IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE	NO	2008-SA-	01245
CUDIN	MO.	4000-SA-	V1440

DIVISION OF MEDICAID, OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, STATE of MISSISSIPPI; and DR. ROBERT L. ROBINSON, in his Official Capacity as Executive Director of the Division of Medicaid.

APPELLANTS

V.

MISSISSIPPI INDEPENDENT PHARMACIES ASSOCIATION, INC, et al.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS MISSISSIPPI DIVISION OF MEDICAID, OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, and DR. ROBERT L. ROBINSON

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, the Honorable William Hale Singletary

> Harold E. Pizzetta, III MS Bar

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

In light of the great deference afforded the Division of Medicaid in interpreting its governing statutes in the complex and legislatively delegated area of rate setting, is the Division's administrative rule AP2008-23 which utilizes the lower of the State Maximum Allowable Cost or Average Wholesale Price as a basis for calculating a drug's Estimated Acquisition Cost an impermissible interpretation of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) when the legislature has deleted the statutory requirement that Estimated Acquisition Cost be calculated solely by reference to Average Wholesale Price and delegated the duty to determine Estimated Acquisition Cost to the Division?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Division of Medicaid's administrative rule AP2008-23 establishing the method for calculating a drug's "Estimated Acquisition Costs" (EAC) for the purpose of setting a reimbursement rate for pharmacists who voluntarily choose to enroll as Medicaid providers. The inherently legislative and complicated act of setting a Medicaid reimbursement rate has been delegated by statute to the Division. For years, an integral part of the reimbursement rate for pharmacists has been the determination of a drug's EAC along with other variables. Prior to 2005, the legislature defined EAC by statute as "twelve percent (12%) less than the average wholesale price" of a drug. Miss. Code Ann. 43-13-117(9)(b) (2004). However, it has become widely known that pharmaceutical companies have wildly and illegally manipulated the reported average wholesale price (AWP) of drugs in order to fraudulently increase Medicaid reimbursement. See In re Pharmaceutical Industry Average Wholesale Price Litigation, 520 F.Supp.2d 267, 270 (D.Mass. 2007) (finding drug manufacturers illegally inflated reported AWP by as much as 1,000% to defraud Medicaid and Medicare).

In 2005, the legislature amended the Division's governing statute to delete the requirement that EAC be determined solely by reference to AWP. In fact, the amendment deleted any reference as to how EAC must be calculated except that the legislature expressly delegated to the Division the authority and duty to determine the method by which EAC should be determined. See Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-117(9)(b) (EAC shall be "determined by the division").

The Division has adopted a final version of rule AP2008-23 which calculates a drug's EAC as the lesser of: (1) AWP minus 25% or (2) the State Maximum Allowable Cost (S-MAC or MAC). Aggrieved pharmacists appealed the final rule, arguing that the Division acted in contravention of its governing statutes because Section 43-13-117(9)(b) does not explicitly authorize the Division to utilize S-MAC to calculate EAC. The Division submits that calculating EAC as the lower of AWP or S-MAC is permissible under federal law, consistent with how other states calculate EAC, and is so well accepted as to be included in the hornbook on Medicaid reimbursement. See Jorge Lopez, Jr., The ABC's of Public and Private

Maximum Allowable Cost (MAC) programs are designed to ensure Medicaid programs pay appropriate prices for generic and multi-source brand drugs. Typically, States administering the MAC programs will publish lists of selected multi-source and generic drugs with the maximum price at which Medicaid will reimburse for those medications. Pharmacies generally will not receive payments that are higher than the MAC price. These programs differ from the FUL [federal upper limits] list, as states have more discretion in determining what drugs to include on the MAC list.

See Testimony of Dennis Smith, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, before the House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, December 7, 2004. (http://www.cms.hhs.gov/apps/media/press/testimony.asp?Counter=1278).

S-MAC is an effort by states to more equitably reimburse multi-source drugs that are of the same chemical content, dosage, and form and to participate in drug market efficiencies by establishing Medicaid rates based upon the average price pharmacies pay to purchase drugs, as evidenced by information obtained from pharmacies. S-MAC rates are annually adjusted and based on the average actual acquisition cost per drug, adjusted by a multiplier of at least 1.2, which ensures that each rate is sufficient to allow reasonable access by providers to the drug. See Notice, R.E. 5, R.6, R.Vol. 5. As the director of the federal agency that regulates Medicaid explained,

Reimbursement, 878 PLI/Pat 635, 643 (Oct. 2006). More importantly, though, is the great deference afforded the Division's interpretation of its governing statute. The legislature's deletion of the statutory requirement that EAC be calculated exclusively by reference to AWP, coupled with its express delegation of the determination of EAC to the Division, provides ample support that the Division's use of the lesser of AWP or S-MAC to calculate EAC is a permissible construction of its governing statute which cannot be judicially supplanted by even an equally permissible construction advanced by self-interested regulated entities.

Course of Proceedings

On April 1, 2008, the Division published the Notice of Proposed Rule

Adoption AP2008-23. See Notice, R.E. 5, R. Vol. 5.² An oral hearing on the rule was
conducted, and the rule became effective on May 1, 2008. Id. On April 30, selected
pharmacists filed an appeal of the rule with the Chancery Court for the First

Judicial District of Hinds County. See Complaint, R.Vol. 1, R.1.³ The Division

²

The record on appeal consists of 15 volumes. The pleadings, memoranda, and orders are in volumes 1 through 4, with pages numbered from 1 through 493. The administrative record complied by the Division is set forth in volumes 5 through 14 and numbered as pages 1 through 1424. A transcript of an oral argument regarding a protective order is contained in volume 15.

³

Although the notice of appeal was incorrectly styled as a complaint, the chancery court correctly determined that the matter was actually an appeal of an administrative rule. "After close examination of the Plaintiff's complaint, this Court has determined that this matter is, in fact, an appeal of an administrative agency action instead of a suit for injunctive relief." June 11, 2008, Protective Order, R.Vol. 2, R. 237. The pharmacists did not appeal the chancery court's decision regarding the nature of this legal action.

subsequently filed its administrative record. See Record Vols. 5-14.

The Fifth Chancery District adjudicates a very large proportion of the appeals from administrative agencies and has adopted Local Rule 25 to standardize and govern the appellate process. Rule 25, which was approved by this Court, provides that all parties are entitled to file an appellate brief and the matter shall be set on the trial docket before a final decision on the merits is rendered. See Local Rule 25 (appeal "must be set on the trial docket, even though oral argument is not desired, to be considered by the Court"; appeal cannot be set on the trial docket until "after all briefs have been filed"). Consistent with Local Rule 25, the chancery court entered a briefing schedule requiring the pharmacists to file their brief on June 27 and directing the Division to file its brief in opposition on July 7. Scheduling Order, R.E. 2, R.Vol. 2. However, on June 24 and prior to the submission of the Division's brief on the merits, the chancery court entered its written opinion concluding that the Division did not have the statutory authority to use both S-MAC and AWP to calculate EAC. See Opinion, R.E.3, R.Vol.2. The decision required the Division to return to the previous method of calculating EAC exclusively by reference to the fraudulently inflated AWP. See In re Pharmaceutical Industry Average Wholesale Price Litigation, 520 F.Supp.2d at 270.

Although the chancery court was required to defer to the Division's interpretation of its governing statutes, the court ruled before being apprised of the Division's basis for its interpretation. Further, although Local Rule 25 and the court's scheduling order provided the Division with the right to submit a brief in

opposition, the court decided this complex matter of statutory interpretation and Medicaid reimbursement policy without allowing the Division to submit a brief on the merits but clearly having read the pleadings of the pharmacists. Opinion, R.E. 3, R. 243, R.Vol.2.

Statement of Facts

The Division of Medicaid was created by the legislature and placed directly within the Office of the Governor. Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-101. The Division has been tasked to administer Mississippi's complex Medicaid laws and, as a part of that responsibility, has been delegated the legislative authority to set reimbursement rates for providers. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 43-13-107(1), 43-13-117(9)(b), 43-13-121(1). While federal Medicaid law does not require a state to offer pharmacy benefits, Mississippi has chosen to undertake this exceptionally expensive and worthwhile benefit. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10), 1396d(a)(12). As part of implementing the complex state and federal cooperative program that is modern Medicaid, the legislature has delegated to the Division the legislative authority to establish the reimbursement rates for drugs sold by pharmacists who voluntarily enroll as Medicaid providers. The current version of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) provides:

Payment by the division for covered multisource drugs shall be limited to the lower of the upper limits established and published by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) plus a dispensing fee, or the estimated acquisition cost (EAC) as determined by the

Medicaid is a jointly financed federal and state health care program administered by the State according to Federal guidelines. 42 U.S.C. § 1396 et al.

division, plus a dispensing fee, or the providers' usual and customary charge to the general public.

Payment for other covered drugs, other than multisource drugs with CMS upper limits, shall not exceed the lower of the estimated acquisition costs as determined by the division, plus a dispensing fee or the providers usual and customary charge to the general public.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-117(9)(b) (emphasis supplied).

Of critical importance to this appeal is the legislature's amendment to the statute in 2005. In 2004, Section 43-13-117(9)(b) did not contain the highlighted language "estimated acquisition cost (EAC) as determined by the division."

Instead, the 2004 statute provided that "[a]s used in paragraph (9), 'estimated acquisition cost' means twelve percent (12%) less than the average wholesale price for a drug." Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-117(9)(b) (2004). In 2005, the legislature deleted the requirement that EAC must be calculated exclusively by reference to AWP, deleted all references to AWP in Section (9)(b), and explicitly instructed that EAC shall be "determined by the division." The 2005 amendment did not merely authorize the Division to set its own percentage discount below AWP to calculate EAC, but deleted all references to AWP as a means to calculate EAC. Accordingly, the Division adopted administrative rule AP2008-23 which utilized the lesser of AWP or S-MAC to calculate EAC; this appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Division of Medicaid's fulfillment of its express legislative mandate and delegated authority to determine "Estimated Acquisition Cost" has led to a most unusual judicial procedure, a usurpation of the agency's legislative authority by the

chancery court, and fundamentally incorrect lower court decision. The Division, as the agency with unique expertise in the legal, medical, and fiscal requirements of the federal/state Medicaid program, is entitled to "great deference" when interpreting its governing statutes. Such deference is especially warranted when the agency acts in its legislative capacity of setting reimbursement rates.

The Division's interpretation of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) as permitting the calculation of EAC as the lesser of AWP or S-MAC should be affirmed on appeal. First, it is clear that the Division's decision to utilize both AWP and S-MAC to calculate EAC does not conflict with the plain language of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) as the legislature has deleted by amendment the requirement that EAC be calculated exclusively by reference to AWP.

Second, if the statute is determined to be "ambiguous or silent," it is nonetheless clear that the Division's actions are based on a "permissible construction" of the statute. Respecting the separation of powers doctrine, to be affirmed by the judiciary, an agency's interpretation need not be the "only" permissible interpretation or the interpretation that would have been chosen by the court. The Division's interpretation of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) to permit the use of S-MAC and AWP to calculate EAC is a permissible construction supported by the 2005 amendments to the statute, the definition of EAC in federal Medicaid law, the use of S-MAC to calculate EAC by other states, the conclusively established fraudulent reporting of AWP, and the hornbook guide to Medicaid reimbursement.

ARGUMENT

I. The Division's Interpretation of Its Governing Statute, Especially in the Inherently Legislative Area of Rate Setting, is Entitled to Great Deference.

While matters of law are reviewed de novo, "great deference [is] afforded an administrative agency's 'construction of its own rules and regulations and the statutes under which it operates." McDerment v. Miss. Real Estate Comm'n, 748

So.2d 114, 118 (Miss.1999) (quoting Miss. State Tax Comm'n v. Mask, 667 So.2d

1313, 1314 (Miss.1995)). The Division of Medicaid, as an administrative agency within the Office of the Governor, is afforded great deference in interpreting Section 43-13-117(9)(b), and a heavy burden is imposed on a party challenging the Division's interpretation. See Electronic Data Systems Corp. v. Mississippi Div. of Medicaid, 853 So.2d 1192, 1204 (Miss. 2003).

As a general matter, when reviewing an agency's statutory interpretation, Courts determine whether the statute is "ambiguous or silent" on the precise question, and, if so, the agency's interpretation must be upheld if it is "based on a permissible construction of the statute." Barbour v. State ex rel. Hood, 974 So.2d 232, 240 (Miss. 2008)(citing Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 865-866 (1984)). Further, "[t]he court need not conclude that the agency construction was the only one it permissibly could have adopted to uphold the construction, or even the reading the court would have reached if the question initially had arisen in a judicial proceeding." Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, Inc., 751 So.2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1999) (quoting

Chevron, 467 U.S. at 843 n.11).

Although firmly grounded in the separation of powers doctrine, the great deference afforded administrative agencies reflects the complexity of legal, policy, and fiscal concerns with which agencies like the Division of Medicaid are intimately familiar with and which are the basis of their administrative expertise. As this Court has noted in similar circumstances,

We have today a matter of statutory interpretation, committed initially to an agency within the executive department of the government, here the State Personnel Board and its alter ego, the Employees Appeal Board. Notwithstanding our ordinarily de novo review of questions of law, we have accepted an obligation of deference to agency interpretation and practice in areas of administration by law committed to their responsibility. This duty of deference derives from our realization that the everyday experience of the administrative agency gives it familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to its care which no court can hope to replicate. In today's context, that duty of deference is as well a function of EAB's unique administrative charge to blend and pursue pragmatically and at once fact finding, legal interpretation and promotion of legislatively established public policy.

Gill v. Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife Conservation, 574 So.2d 586, 593 (Miss. 1990) (citations omitted).

In addition to the traditional level of deference, this Court has specifically acknowledged that when acting in a legislative function, agencies as the designee of legislative authority, are entitled to special deference based on the principle of separation of powers. This Court "refrains from interfering with duly delegated authority to an administrative agency, particularly where the rule making power of the agency is involved due to its legislative function." Mississippi Public Service Comm'n v. Mississippi Power & Light Co., 593 So.2d 997, 1000 (Miss. 1991)

(emphasis supplied). This Court has explained the distinction between the different roles of administrative agencies and the requirements of, and basis for, judicial nonintervention as follows:

In carrying out its legislative mandated function, the Board exercises two very different types of power. First, it carries out a quasi-judicial or "adjudicative" function as a delegation of power from the judicial branch of government. In exercising that power, it decides disputes between competing parties to a controversy specific to the parties' interests and in which neither the Board nor other parties have a stake. The Board also carries out legislative or "rulemaking" functions as a delegation of power from the legislative branch of government. It does this function when, as is true in the case of the Board's adoption of rule 69, the Legislature directs the Board to enact rules or regulations on a particular subject within the Board's regulatory jurisdiction. The Legislature mandated that the Board promulgate rules and regulations governing oilfield NORM. Miss. Code Ann. § 53-1-17(7); Miss.Code Ann. § 53-1-3(t)(I).

This Court, as well as other courts, have recognized the distinction between adjudicatory and rulemaking functions of an administrative agency. In Mississippi Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. Mississippi Power & Light Co., 593 So.2d 997, 1000 (Miss.1991), this Court held, "the court refrains from interfering with duly delegated authority to an administrative agency, particularly where the rule making power of an agency is involved due to its legislative function." (emphasis added). In so ruling, this Court explained that the rule against interfering with duly delegated legislative authority is based upon separation of power considerations. Id. at 999-1000. This Court recognized that the creation of administrative agencies resulted in a combination of powers from all three branches of government. In order to maintain the appropriate checks and balances, the judicial branch of government must refrain from interfering with the portion of administrative agency's function that has been delegated by the legislative branch. . . .

Here, the Board was clearly engaged in policy rulemaking pursuant to a specific delegation from the Mississippi Legislature. It was not adjudicating competing claims to a specific valuable right such as a permit to drill a well on a certain piece of property. . . . [I]t is a well-settled proposition that this Court refrains from interfering with the rulemaking function of an administrative agency.

Boyles v. Mississippi State Oil & Gas Bd., 794 So.2d 149, 157-58 (Miss. 2001) (emphasis supplied).

The proceeding before the lower court illustrates the constitutional and practical errors that arise when a chancery court usurps the authority of the Division and fails to defer to the Division's "everyday experience" that has provided the agency "familiarity with the particularities and nuances of the problems committed to its care which no court can hope to replicate." Gill, 574 So.2d at 593. The learned chancellor rushed headlong into an area of complex legal, medical, and fiscal policy without so much as a merits brief from the Division. As a practical matter, there was no way for the chancellor to defer to the Division's interpretation of its statute when he ruled before knowing the Division's basis for interpretation. The chancellor's unusual and hasty action impermissibly supplanted the Division's expertise regarding EAC, AWP, and S-MAC developed through years of planning. research, legislative consultation, consultation with independent experts, and work with the University of Mississippi's School of Pharmacy. See, e.g., R.Vol. 6, R.285-300; R.Vol. 7, R.301-328.

II. The Pharmacists Cannot Establish that the Division's Interpretation of its Governing Statute is Either in Conflict with the Statute's Plain Language or an Impermissible Construction of the Statute.

As an initial matter, it is clear that the Division's decision to utilize both AWP and S-MAC to calculate EAC does not conflict with the plain language of Section 43-13-117(9)(b) as the legislature has deleted by amendment the requirement that EAC be calculated exclusively by reference to AWP. When

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