IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-SA-01245

DIVISION OF MEDICAID, OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, STATE of MISSISSIPPI; and DR. ROBERT L. ROBINSON, in his Official Capacity as Executive Director of the Division of Medicaid.

APPELLANTS

V.

MISSISSIPPI INDEPENDENT PHARMACIES ASSOCIATION, INC, et al.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES MISSISSIPPI INDEPENDENT PHARMACISTS ASSOCIATION AND MISSISSIPPI PHARMACY ASSOCIATION, ET AL.

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, the Honorable William Hale Singletary

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

J. Price Coleman

1100 Tyler Avenue #101 Oxford, MS 38655

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

On April 1, 2008, DOM withdrew its first notice and filed a second Notice of Proposed Rule Adoption. R. Vol. 5, pp. 4-8 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab C. This second notice differed only slightly from the first notice. Instead of the actual acquisition cost reimbursement methodology being listed for what it was-- a fourth and new methodology of calculating reimbursement for the cost of the drug, it was listed as an alternative method of calculating Estimated Acquisition Costs (EAC). As was pointed out by the Chancellor in his opinion, this was DOM's weak and futile attempt to get around the requirement in the statute that any change in the rate or method of reimbursement be done only by the legislature. R. Vol. 2, pp. 248-249. Moreover, regardless of what the change was called, it resulted in a rate of reimbursement below that mandated by statute. The second notice also included a one page purported Economic Impact Study which is inadequate. R. Vol. 5, p.8 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab C. At the request of the pharmacists an oral proceeding was scheduled for April 21, 2008.

Subsequent to the second Notice of Proposed Rule Adoption, and in preparation for the Oral Proceeding counsel for the plaintiffs requested depositions of DOM representatives, Myers & Stauffer and Dr. Noel Wilkin, the principal author of the University of Mississippi Pharmacy School study on the cost of dispensing. Alternatively, counsel for plaintiffs requested the right to confer with these individuals and that DOM make them available at the oral proceeding for questioning. R. Vol. 13, pp 1306, 1309. Under the "procedures" dictated by DOM, Pharmacists' counsel had no subpoena power to require the appearances of the deponents. DOM declined to make the individuals available for deposition and would not allow the individuals to meet with plaintiffs with attorneys present. At the oral proceeding, DOM would not allow any questions from anyone and these individuals did not appear. R. Vol. 12, pp.1128, 1143.

D. The oral proceeding

On April 21, 2008 at 2:00 p.m., DOM conducted an oral proceeding in Jackson, MS at The Division of Medicaid. As counsel for Medicaid had previously indicated to pharmacists'

counsel, the oral proceeding was not a "hearing" in the traditional or due process sense, but an "opportunity for folks to voice their concerns." R. Vol. 12, p. 1128. There was no court reporter, presenters were not sworn, there was no opportunity to question DOM officials, nor its agents that assisted in formulating the new rule. Dirk Dedeaux, Chairman of the Mississippi House of Representatives Medicaid Committee and member of the Medical Care Advisory Committee⁵ attended the oral proceeding. Mr. Dedeaux attempted to question one of the presenters and was not permitted to do so by the Medicaid officials conducting the oral proceeding. R. Vol. 12, p.1143. The DOM moderator of the proceeding also restricted each presenter to five minutes. R. Vol. 12, p.1128. For this reason, many of the persons wishing to make presentations had to yield their time to others, so that their counsel could at least get their remarks on the record during the time DOM set aside for the hearing.

Despite the limitations placed on the presenters at the oral proceeding, counsel for the pharmacists and a few others were able to provide comment and evidence on the proposed rule. The recording of the oral proceeding did not work properly R. Vol. 12, p 1151 and the statements by two of the individuals representing chain drug stores travelling to Jackson, Mississippi from their residences in Nebraska and Horn Lake, MS, were not recorded and therefore their statements were not available to DOM officials in reaching their ultimate decision, nor for this Court's judicial review. Several of the presenters offered written statements and other evidence (including an expert report) to be included in the record but these documents were not made a part of the record compiled by DOM and initially provided to the court. The documents not in the initial record include letters from Mississippi pharmacists R. Vol. 13, pp. 1294-1303 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab E; letters from members of the Medical Care Advisory Committee expressing their opinions that the new rule should not be implemented R. Vol. 12, pp. 1152-1156 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab E and the report of plaintiffs' expert providing detailed information and opinions as to: (a) the devastating effect of the new rule on Mississippi pharmacists, (b) a comparison of reimbursement under the new rule with reimbursement in other states and (c) the actual cost of dispensing in Mississippi. R. Vol. 13, pp. 1286-1293 or

⁵ Miss. Code Ann § 43-13-107 (3)(a) (1972) established a Medical Care Advisory Committee made up of health care providers/consumers and members of the legislative leadership to advise DOM with respect to, among other things, amendments, modifications and changes to the state plan.

Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab D. These documents were only added to the administrative record reviewed by the trial court when plaintiffs' counsel notified counsel for DOM of their absence and provided copies. This is pointed out because it is questionable as to whether DOM considered this evidence before reaching its decision.

Pharmacists advised DOM at the oral proceeding that the proposed rule creating the State MAC, was invalid because such a change required legislative action. They further advised the Division that the proposed rule was invalid because the resulting reimbursement was inadequate and that DOM did not conduct an Economic Impact Study as required by applicable administrative law. R. Vol. 12, pp. 1130-1135.

Pharmacists also pointed out the devastating economic impact the Proposed Rule Adoption creating a State MAC would have on Mississippi pharmacies. R. Vol. 12 pp. 1135-1144. During the oral proceeding pharmacists provided DOM a copy of a report from their experts, Medical Marketing Economics, LLC (MME). MME concluded in its report that the proposed rule would lead to reimbursement to pharmacy providers for generic prescriptions in amounts less than what the pharmacy providers pay for the ingredients on many drugs and that pharmacies would lose on average \$85,000.00 per year on filling Medicaid generic drug prescriptions. R. Vol. 13, pp. 1286-1293 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab D.

With regard to the \$5.50 dispensing fee proposed in the new rule, pharmacists provided DOM with the results of the 2007 national Cost of Dispensing Survey done by the accounting firm of Grant Thornton. Vols. 12-13, pp. 1157-1220. This comprehensive study gathered information from over 24,400 pharmacies from across the country and determined the cost of dispensing in each state, including Mississippi. The Grant Thornton study determined the Cost of Dispensing for prescriptions in Mississippi was \$10.39 per prescription. R. Vol. 12, p. 1186. It is important to note that the Grant Thornton survey received responses from 204 pharmacies in Mississippi, approximately twenty-five percent of all Mississippi pharmacies. The Grant Thornton Study established the cost of dispensing in neighboring states: Alabama-- \$11.06; Arkansas -- \$10.56; Louisiana -- \$10.50; Georgia -- \$11.99; Florida -- \$11.83; Kentucky--\$11.24; and South Carolina -- \$11.13. R-p.1187. Grant Thornton found a national average cost of dispensing of \$10.50. R. Vol. 12, pp. 1173, 1186-1187.

Other presenters at the oral proceeding from Walgreens, Fred's and the National Association of Chain Drug Stores provided evidence as to the devastating effect the new rule would have on their pharmacies. They also provided evidence of significantly higher reimbursements in other states in which they did business compared to the rates under the new rule. R. Vol. 12, pp. 1148-1151 and Vol. 13, pp. 1304-1305.

Individual independent pharmacists Joe McGuffie and Bob Lominick testified as to the devastating financial effect that the new rule would have on their pharmacies and on all independent pharmacies in Mississippi. R. Vol. 12, pp. 1144-1148. The room was full of pharmacists with many standing along the wall and some in the halls because they could not get into the room.

Also in attendance were members of the Medical Care Advisory Committee, a statutorily created committee mandated to advise DOM on any rule change. At the conclusion of the oral proceeding, four of the committee members wrote the Director of Medicaid advising that they disagreed with the proposed rule and advised that it should be withdrawn. R. Vol. 12, pp. 1152-1156 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab E. The members that wrote the Director were Nolan Mettetal, a pharmacist and member of the State Senate; Dr. Sid Bondurant, a physician and member of the Mississippi House of Representatives; Dr. Juanita Dong, a pharmacist; and Dirk Dedeaux, the Chairman of the Mississippi House of Representatives Medicaid Committee.

At the conclusion of the oral proceeding, pharmacists introduced into the record summaries of their written remarks, a copy of their experts' report R. Vol. 13, pp. 1286-1293 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab D, and numerous letters from pharmacists across Mississippi expressing their concerns about the devastating financial impact the new rule would have on their pharmacies. R. Vol. 13 pp. 1294-1303 or Appellees' Record Excerpts Tab E.

On May 1, 2008 the Director of Medicaid issued a short Memorandum to all pharmacies dismissing all concerns and rejecting compromise proposals offered by Pharmacists stating:

A proposal was received by the Mississippi Independent Pharmacies Association... [T]his proposal without even considering the bonus dispensing fee would save \$3.7 Million State dollars on an annual basis....A second similar proposal from the chain pharmacy... showed without considering the bonus dispensing fee the savings would be

\$5.34 Million State dollars on an annual basis. The cost containment offered by these two proposals are not sufficient to meet the savings needs of the State....

Robinson Memorandum mailed to pharmacists, May 1, 2008, R. Vol. 13, pp. 1279-1280.

This statement clearly shows that DOM "worked backwards" from an arbitrary number by which it intended to reduce pharmacy reimbursements regardless of its authority or the reasonableness of the number.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The four grounds on which the new rule is invalid

The new rule for reimbursement is invalid on numerous grounds. These grounds were pointed out to DOM throughout the administrative process, in the complaint and in argument before the trial court. These grounds are listed in the statement of issues *supra*. The trial court correctly vacated the rule on the first of these grounds: that the new rule created a new methodology for reimbursement which required legislative action. This is the only ground addressed by DOM in its brief. The proposed rule, by DOM's own admission, is a change in the method and the rate of reimbursement for pharmacists. The proposed State MAC program adds a fourth formula for determining reimbursement to the three methods specified in Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-117 (9) (b) (1972, as amended). It creates a new and different method and rate of reimbursement which according to the DOM will reduce reimbursements to pharmacies each year by approximately thirty-two million dollars. Such a change requires legislative action and cannot be done on the whim of DOM. Moreover, the trial court's decision to vacate the rule is also justified on each of the alternative grounds.

The first alternative ground justifying the court's decision is that the new rule on reimbursement does not provide reimbursement "for the reasonable costs of filling and dispensing Medicaid prescriptions" as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 43-13-17 (1972, as amended). The new rule cuts the reimbursement for filling prescriptions below the cost that many Mississippi pharmacies can purchase the drug. Likewise, the new rule does not provide reasonable reimbursement for dispensing Medicaid prescriptions, the second component of reimbursement provided in the controlling statute. The administrative record provides

uncontradicted evidence that the actual cost of dispensing in Mississippi is over \$10.00. The reimbursement of \$5.50 in the new rule is inadequate.

The second alternative ground justifying the court's decision is that DOM did not provide an economic impact statement as required by the Mississippi Administrative Procedures Act (hereinafter MAPA) codified in Miss. Code Ann. § 25-43- 01, et seq. (1972, as amended). Section 25-43-3.105 of MAPA requires an administrative agency, including DOM, provide a written report of the agency's analysis of the economic impact of a "significant rule amendment" to the citizens of Mississippi. The statute is very specific as to what the study and the report must include. MAPA is clear that a failure by an agency to substantially comply with this provision renders a proposed rule invalid. DOM's one page statement falls so short of compliance with the statute that it demonstrates, in and of itself, DOM's arbitrary and capricious conduct.

The third alternative ground justifying the court's decision is that DOM's actions in implementing the new rule were arbitrary and capricious because it failed to conduct a fair and adequate oral proceeding and ignored the substantial and uncontradicted evidence in the record. Looking at the definition of capricious, this Court has stated: "an act is capricious when it is done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and controlling principles." Environmental Quality v. Weems, 653 So.2d 266, 274 (Miss. 1995). The Court has also held that an administrative act is arbitrary and capricious if the agency "entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, or offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before the agency..." Id at 281. The decision by DOM to implement the new rule for reimbursement to pharmacists was truly one that runs "counter to the evidence before the agency" Id. 274. It is submitted that DOM's decision was reached to satisfy a goal of saving thirty-two Million dollars, regardless of whether it is supported by the record or in compliance with the mandate of the legislature that levels of reimbursement not be changed and be reasonable. The fact that DOM "worked backwards" knowing the conclusion it wanted to reach before it considered the evidence in the record is made clear by the DOM Director's own words quoted above. R. Vol. 13, pp. 1278-1280.

This court has long recognized its inherent power to affirm a decision on grounds other than those relied upon by the trial court. Therefore, even if this Court should disagree with the trial court on its decision vacating the rule on the first of the four grounds, it is respectfully submitted that the trial court reached the correct decision and this Court with its de novo review of the trial court's ruling should affirm on the basis of each of the three alternative grounds for vacating the rule.

In Cucos v. McDaniel, 938 So.2d 238 (Miss. 2006) this Court stated: "... [A] trial court judgment may be affirmed on grounds other than those relied upon by the trial court.... It is well established in our jurisprudence that the right result reached for the wrong reason will not be disturbed on appeal." Id. at 246, citations omitted. *See also*, Aldridge v. West, 929 So.2d 298, 303 (Miss. 2006) ("A long-standing rule of this Court is that we will not reverse a lower court's decision where that court reaches the right conclusion although for the wrong reason."); Hobson v. City of Vicksburg. 848 So.2d 199, 202 (Miss. 2003) ("It is standard practice of this Court to affirm the decision of the trial court when we conclude that the right result has been reached even though the trial court employed reasoning different from that which we decide controls the issue."); Bechtel Power Corp. v. MMC Materials, Inc., 830 So.2d 672, 678 (Miss. 2002); Briggs v. Benjamen, 467 So.2d 932, 934 (Miss. 1985); Lee v. Memphis Publishing Co., 195 Miss 264, 14 So.2d 351 (Miss. 1943).

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